
 
555 County Center, 5th Floor, Redwood City, CA 94063     PHONE: 650.599.1406 

www.ccag.ca.gov 
 

C/CAG 
CITY/COUNTY ASSOCIATION OF GOVERNMENTS 

OF SAN MATEO COUNTY 
 
Atherton • Belmont • Brisbane • Burlingame • Colma • Daly City • East Palo Alto • Foster City • Half Moon Bay • Hillsborough • Menlo Park • Millbrae • 

Pacifica • Portola Valley • Redwood City • San Bruno • San Carlos • San Mateo • San Mateo County •South San Francisco • Woodside 
 
 
 
 
 
May 21, 2025 
 
Randy Breault, Public Works Director 
City of Brisbane 
50 Park Place 
Brisbane, CA 94005 
 
 
Re: CMP TDM Policy Exemption Request – Brisbane 
 
 
Dear Randy, 
 
Thank you for resubmitting Brisbane’s request for exemption from C/CAG’s TDM Policy, as outlined 
in your letter dated April 29, 2025.  Pursuant to the C/CAG Board’s recent action to amend its TDM 
policy to provide the C/CAG Executive Director with additional discretion in determining whether a 
locally adopted TDM Plan can be exempted from the C/CAG Policy, it has been determined that 
Brisbane’s adopted policy meets the threshold to qualify for an exemption, as discussed in detail 
below.   
 
 
Brisbane TDM Policy Requirements – Summary 
 
 The Brisbane TDM Policy divides projects into 3 tiers as shown: 

 
Brisbane TDM 

 Description Drive alone 
Mode Share 

Trip Red. Req. 

Tier 1 - All non-residential projects generating >100 
ADT (other than those covered under Tier 2 & 3) 

52%  

- Residential projects otherwise not exempted 67-73% 25% small residential 
or TOD; 35% others 

Tier 2 - Office/R&D < 50ksf 
- Warehousing and trade commercial projects 

52%  

Tier 3 Office/R&D >50ksf 52%  
 
  



 
555 County Center, 5th Floor, Redwood City, CA 94063     PHONE: 650.599.1406 

www.ccag.ca.gov 
 

 
 
 
 
 Monitoring and enforcement provisions vary by tier.  

 
 Applicability – Policy applies to: 

- All projects generating ≥ 100 ADT 
- Nonresidential projects that include improvements valued at more than $500k in construction 

costs, regardless of the number of average daily trips generated. 
- Any project involving additions, alterations, or major rebuilds to buildings completed within 

any five (5) year period regardless of the number of average daily trips generated. 
 
 Exemptions – Policy includes specific exemptions for, among others, affordable, inclusionary or 

Target housing units; and “Projects with environmental benefits”. 
 
 
C/CAG Policy vs. Brisbane TDM Policy 
 
According to the amended C/CAG Policy, an exemption request must clearly document how a 
jurisdiction’s adopted city-wide TDM regulations ensure projected SOV trip reduction percentages 
meet or exceed 25% for TOD and small residential projects, and 35% for all other project land use 
types.  C/CAG may consider minor deviations from these criteria where it can be objectively 
demonstrated that a locally adopted TDM plan is substantially consistent with these criteria and is 
likely to generate superior city-wide results to the C/CAG TDM Policy through implementation of trip 
reduction targets, monitoring, reporting, enforcement mechanisms and/or other documented measures 
that are materially more robust than those in the C/CAG policy.  So, while the Brisbane TDM Policy 
includes some exceptions that are otherwise not included in the C/CAG TDM policy, it has been found 
to be substantially consistent and likely to generate superior city-wide results based on the following: 
 
 Trip Reduction Comparison – Table 1, included in Brisbane’s request and shown below,  

represents anticipated build-out in Brisbane’s General Plan in various land use categories and 
provides a comparison of trip reduction required by Brisbane’s Policy vs. C/CAG’s Policy.  The 
Table estimates the City’s requirements would reduce trips 26% below C/CAG policy 
requirements.  

 
- Of particular note, the Baylands Office buildout potential totals approximately 6.4M square 

feet, and represents the vast majority of growth opportunity sites in Brisbane.  These projects 
will be subject to the Tier 3 requirements which far exceed C/CAG TDM Policy requirements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
555 County Center, 5th Floor, Redwood City, CA 94063     PHONE: 650.599.1406 

www.ccag.ca.gov 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 Monitoring, Reporting and Enforcement Provisions – The monitoring, reporting and enforcement 
provisions identified in Brisbane Municipal Code Section 10.52 generally exceed the C/CAG TDM 
Policy provisions, particularly as applied to Tier 3 projects which are required to achieve drive 
alone mode share targets of 52%, with an escalating penalty structure for noncompliance. 
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- All projects are monitored through submittal of an annual compliance report that documents the 
implementation of required TDM measures. Tier 1 projects must submit this report annually for 
the first six years after occupancy; Tier 2 projects must submit this report annually for the first 
20 years after occupancy; and Tier 3 projects must submit this report annually for the lifespan 
of the project. Tier 1 and Tier 2 local-serving, nonresidential projects, while required to submit 
an initial compliance report, are exempt from submitting annual compliance reports.  Tier 3 
project requirements include annual compliance report, mode share survey (statistically valid 
provisions), and driveway counts. 

 
 Policy application to existing uses – C/CAG’s policy does not apply to preexisting uses unless 

either a new more intensive land use is introduced, or a structure is modified, such that it would 
generate more than 100 ADT over preexisting conditions.  Brisbane’s policy has the potential to 
incorporate more existing uses based on program applicability, as outlined above.  

 
Based on a combination of these factors it is determined that Brisbane’s TDM Policy qualifies for an 
exemption from the C/CAG TDM Policy requirements.  Please note that per the Exemption provisions 
of the C/CAG policy, Brisbane continues to have an obligation to provide written notification to 
C/CAG whenever it receives an application for a new development project expected to generate more 
than 100 ADT and is also required to share all monitoring results with C/CAG and Commute.org on a 
biennial basis. 
 
Thank you for your patience during the intervening months as we have worked with our Board to 
implement necessary amendments to the exemption provisions of C/CAG’s TDM policy to 
accommodate requests such as yours.   Brisbane is to be commended for its efforts in adopting and 
implementing these strong TDM policies.  
 
Please let me know if you have any questions regarding this matter. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
___________________________ 
Sean Charpentier, C/CAG Executive Director 
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